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STATE OF MINNESOTA S " DISTRICT COURT
HENNEPIN COUNTY . I FOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
Jerry L. Moore, - | " 'File No. 27-CV-09-17778
: The Honorable Denise D. Reilly
Plaintiff, |
. REPLY MEMORANDUM OF
Vs AMICUS CURLAE MINNESOTA PRO
_ | ' CHAPTER OF THE SOCIETY OF
Jobn Hoff a/k/a/ Johnny Northside, PROFESSIONAL JOURNALISTS

Defendant.:

Introduction

B Treéting Pl’aintiff Jerry Moore’s motion and memoraﬁdum dated May 16, 2011, as"th'e
gquiva;eht of a-response to the March 23 amicus motion arid memorandum of the M‘innesota'
Professional Chapter of the Society of Professional Journalists, MN-SPJ submits this reply:
The Court should grant MN-SPJ’s request to participate as amicus c'url'iae in this proceeding,
and should degy Plaintiff’s motion to strike MN-SPJ’s reqﬁgst.

MN-SPJ do;a's-not pbject to the Court ruling upon this amicus role based on the’
motion papers (provided that the paper submissions close with this memorandum) and
without oré.l argument, prior to the post-trial motion heaping scheduled for May 31.

| | Argument

I MN-SPJ ’s Amzcus Motxon was Appropnate and Tlmely

Amicus pamc1pat10n at the trial court level is unusual but not unprecedented,
parncularlv in a case attractmg widespread pubhc attention. For example, the- de0151on of the
dlstnct court in Perry V. Schwa;zenegger 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 35594 (N D. Cal. June 30,

2009) (federal court challenge to Cahforma constitutional arnendment prohlbltmg gay
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marriage) lists appearances of various counsel for amici on a motion for preliminary

1n_]unct10n

In the present case, the jury’ s March 11verdict awarded damages to plamtlff desp1te a
finding that defendant’s statement was true. News of that result generated confusion,

consternation, and commentary in Minneapolis and around the country. See e.g.,

http: //www abaloumal com/news/a.mcle/firestorm re_60k_award_against b]ogger despite 1
ack_of defamation/; | | |
h_ttp:_//_nlinnesota.Qublioradio.org[collections/special/colurnns/new_s;__ cut/archive/201 1/03/sorne
times_the truth doesnt set,shtml ; http ://www.thedeets.com/201 1/03/11/johnny-northside-

tnal follow-up/ ; hitp://volokh, com/2011; /03/11/60000-damages-for/ ;

http //www skj oldpamngton com/newsroom/artlclebank/]ohnnyNoxthsmeVerdlct php. As

reflected in comments to those postings, some expressed fears that they might face similar

oonsequences despite the truth of then own statements, and wondered how the law could
' permit that.

MN SPJ shared those concerns, and filed its motlon to formally appnse the Court of
the broadef rarmﬁcatlons of the case. MN SPJ rev1ewed the special verdlct form, which |
conta.med the facts pertment to and dlscussed in the amicus memorandum it ultunately ﬁled.
Its March 23 ﬁhng followed what it understood to be a March 16 rnotxon by Defendant to
stay entxy of Judgment on the verdlct pendmg post-trial mot;ons.
| The anesota Rules of C1V11 Procedure do not spemfy a procedure for amicus
participation in the dLStnct courts. In the anesota state appellate courts, "rno;t" petltlons

for leave to participate as amicus.curiae are granted, Herr & Hanson, APPELLATE RULES

ANNOTATED, §129.3, p. 675 (2010 edition), and the brief may be filed with leave of the

. -2-
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appellate court, Minn. R. Civ. P 129.01. That rule sets time limits for seeking leave, which

| the appellate courts sometimes waive. In federal appellate courts, a motion for leave to-file

“must be accompamed by the proposed bnef ” Fed R. App. P. 29(b), which gives the court

an opportumty to evaluate the utility of the proposed bnef In this case, MN-SPJ’s |
accompau}'lng memorandum was very brief and provided a basis for the court to evaluate the
utility of the unusual procedure of armcus participation at the district court level. The court |
was and remains free to disregard the memorandum if it denies the motion or does not
consider the:memorandmn of any assistance.

Plaintiff’s memorandum incousistently asserts both that MN-SPJ’s memorandum is
“redundant” with Defendant’s memorandun (PItf. Mem at 5-6) and that Pla1nt1ff W111 be
prejudleed’ ifit must respond to MN- SPJ ’s authorities (PItf. Mem at 7) A comparison of -

the memoranda of MN SPJ and Defendant dernonstrates that desp1te some snnﬂannes they
are not redundant. To the e_xtent that they do overlap, Plaintiff logically cannot be prejudiced
oy having to respond to an authority or legal principle discussed in both memoranda.

II. MN-SPJ’s did not Act with any Improper Purpose.
Through his attorney’s afﬁdav:t and Exhibit B, Plamtxff suggests that MN SPJ acted

with “[1]mproper purposes [that] include: i) .. get[tmg] the memorandum into the hands of
the defense counsel to ‘coach’ the inexperienced attorney; or ii) to bring the Faegre & .
Benson z"mprimatur to tlrte defense without frontally aligning wi'th loose cannon Hoff ”
PlamtlfPs assertions have no merit and make no sense. MN SPJ sought amzcus
pe.nlcxanOn to make the Court aware of well-estabhshed Iaw’ at a time when ﬂ’llS Court |

would have a clear opportumty to apply that law in a way that m1ght allevxate the concerns of
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MN-SPJ’s members and other members of the public. That is a typical and proper role of = -
amici in any court. | |
Plaintiff’s criticigm that an amicus memorandum could ““coach” the inexperienced

[defgnsc] attorney” reveals niuch about'Plaintiﬁ’ s own motivation, Was Plaintiff trying to
gain unfair advantage from that perc‘ei\;ed inexperience of his opponen’;’s coﬁnsel, who Had .
'stepped into the c;se on short notice? Was Plain;[iff attempting to keep defense counsel, -and
the Court itself, from becoming'aware of the'legal principles that MN-SPJ discussed? That in -
itself would have been impropér. As far as MN-SPJ can tell after inquiry of Defendant’s
counsel, Plaintiff’s counsel never brought these Minnesoté precedents to the atténtion of this -
Com. IfPI’aintiﬁ’ sl counsel was aware of them, she had a duty of candor to the Court under
‘Rule 3.3(a)(2) of the Rules of Professional Conduct and should have disclosed them,
regardless of what defensé counsel did.-She mﬁst have been aware of at least the Wild v.
Rarig line of cases, because she attempted without success to distinguish Wild just a few
years ago, in Dunham v. Opperman, 2007 WL 1191599, at *6-7 (Minn. App. April 24, 2007)
(unpublis_héd) (copy provided as Borger Aff. Ex. 1), rev. a’enigd. In addition, those issﬁes
(includipg men;ion of Wild and ‘Glass Services Co.) were addressed'last summer by her and
by the undcrsigncd counsel in Stepnes v. Ritschel, United States District Court for the District
of Minnesota, Court F11e No. 0:08-cv-5296 ADM/IJK. See excerpts from docket entries 261 -'
(CBS summary judgment memorandum,.'captioﬁ bagg: and pp. 1-4, 15-16, 29-33), 270

~ (contestant plaintiffs _mer'norandun"lﬁin oﬁpositic)n, pp-'1,16, 18_,.22, 24-25), apd 294 (CBS

reply memorandum, cover page and pp;. 11-12) ( attached as Borger Aff. exhibits 2, 3, and 4)
(full documents available through PACER). In Stepries, the tortious ihterf'erepce claims were

voluntarily dismissed with prejﬁdjce by the plaintiffs asserting them. Id,, docket entry 305

-4
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(stipﬁlétion. of di-smis‘sal) .(aftéch'ed as Borger Aff Ex 5). Those claims do not remain in the

case as it is nowon: appeal by a dlfferent plamtxf’f See Stepnes V. thschel 2011 U. S. stt

LEXIS 3027 ‘at *20- 21 49 50, 71- 72 (D an January 12, 2011) appeal pendzng on other

issues.

"Conclusion

The Court should allow. the Minnesota Pro Chapter of the Society of Professional

Journalists to participate in this action as an amicus curige. It should deny Plaintiff’s motion |

to strike MN-SPJ’s sitbmissions.. .-

~In 'consi'deriqg Defe_ndant’-s'post'-trial motions, the.Court should apply the same rules

to publicly-accessible orilir;e statements that it would to a print version of the same material.

Dated: May 20, 2011

fb.us.6829093.01b.us.6829093.01

FAEGRE & BENSONLLP . - -

, 'JoBorger, MN #9878
22Q0/Wells Fargo Center

90 South Seventh Street
Minneapolis, MN 55402-3901

612-766-7000

A ttofneys for the Minnesota Pro

Chapter of the Soczezy of Professional |
: Journalzsts ,
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. STATE OF MINNESOTA DISTRICT COURT
HENNEPIN COUNTY ~ FOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
Jerry L. Moore, File No. 27-CV-09-17778
The Honorable Denise D. Reilly
Plaintiff,
vs. | AFFIDAVIT OF JOHN P. BORGER
IN SUPPORT OF
John Hoft a/k/a/ Johnny Northside, REPLY MEMORANDUM OF
AMICUS CURIAE MINNESOTA PRO
Defendant. CHAPTER OF THE SOCIETY OF

PROFESSIONAL JOURNALISTS

STATE OF MINNESOTA )
COUNTY OF HENNEPIN 3 N
JOHNP. BORGER, being first duly sworn on oath, states:

1 I am one of the attorneys. for the Amicus Curiae Minnesota Pro Chapter of
the Society of Professi-onal Journalists. My offices are located at 2200 Wells Fargo
Center, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55402.

2. I submit this affidavit in support of the reply memorandum of Minnesbta
Pro Chapter of the Society of Professional Journalists.

3. Attached heréto as Exhibit 1 is a copy of bunham 12 Oppermén, 2007 WL |
1191599, at *6-7 (Minn. App. April 24, 2007) (unpublished) rev. denied.

4, Attached hereto as Exhibit 2 is a copy of Stepnes v. Ritschel, United States

District Coust for the District of Minnesota, Court File No. 0:08-cv-5296 ADM/IIK. docket

entry 261 (CBS summary judgment memorandum, caption page and pp. 1-4, 15-16, 29-33).
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S. Attached hereto 'as Exhibit 3 is a copy of Stepnes v. Ritschel, United States
District Court for the District of Minnesota, Court File No. 0:08-cv-5296 ADM/JJK, Docket
entry 270 (contestant plaintiffs memorandum in opposition, pp. 1, 16, 18, 22, 24-25). |

6. Attached hereto as Exhibit 4 is a copy of Stepnes v. Ritschel, United States
District Court for the District of Minnesota, Court File No. 0:08-cv-5296 ADM/JJIK, Docket
entry 294 (CBS reply memorandum, cover page and pp. 11-12).

7. Attached hereto as Exhibit 5 is a copy of Stepnes v. Ritschel, United States
District Court for :the District of Minnesota, Court File No. 0:08-cv-5296 ADM/JIK, Docket
entry 305 ('S.tipulation for Dismissal of the Actions of Non-Stepnes Plaintiffs With Respect to

CBS Defendants).

Dated: May 20, 2011 , /‘ i ; Z @\/N
| John P. ﬁrger 0

Subscribed and sworn to before me
this C27*"day of May, 2011.

> . ;
4 (\ . G'ngR PLAUCK
. y ~Notary Pubij
S &9 eni
Notary Pubfic 20 Expires donuary 31, 2015

1b.us.6833775.01

(]
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Not Reported in N.W.2d, 2007 WL 1191599 (Minn.App.)

(Cite as: 2007 WL 1191599 (Minn.App. ))

HOnly the Westlaw citation is currently available.

NOTICE: THIS OPINION IS DESIGNATED AS
UNPUBLISHED AND MAY NOT BE CITED EX-
 CEPT AS PROVIDED BY MINN. ST. SEC.
4804.08(3).

Court of Appéals of Minnesota.
Ali DUNHAM, et al., Appellants,
v.

Darin OPPERMAN, Respondent.

‘No. A06-750.
April 24, 2007
. -Review Denied July 17, 2007.

Hennepin ‘County District  Court, File No.
27-CV-04-006654.
Jill Clark, Jill Clark, P.A., Golden Valiey, MN, for

appellants.

Andrew T. Shemn, Chris Angell, Murnane Brandt, St.
Paul, MN; and Linda L. Holstein, Anh Le Kremer
Holstein Law Firm, Minneapolis, MN, for respondent.

Considered and decided by HALBROOKS, Presiding
Judge; HUDSON, Judge; and ROSS, Judge.

UNPUBLISHED OPINION -
HALBROOKS, Judge. :

*1 Appellants challenge four separate orders is-
sued by the district court, arguing that the district court
(1) erred when it dismissed their claim for tortious
interference with contract, (2) abused its discretion
when it denied their motion to compel, (3) abused its
discretion when it dismissed their case with prejudice

. as a sanction for discovery violations and inappro-
priate conduct, and (4) erred when it denied their
motion to disqualify. Because we conclude that the
district court did not abuse its discretion when it de-
nied appellants' motion to compe! and did not err when
it dismissed appellants' claim for tortious interference
with contract and denied their motion to disqualify, we
affirm in part. But because we conclude that the dis-
trict court abused its discretion when if dismissed
‘appellants’ claim with prejudice, we reverse in part
and remand.

Faegre & Benson
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FACTS
Appellants Debra Ali Dunham (Ali) and Audlan
Dunham (Audie) Jomed the Wayzata Country Club
(WCC) as members in 1988. In 2001, Alj discovered
that her husband, Audie, was having an affair with
Karen Roer, another WCC member. After Ali told _
Roer's husband about the affair, Roer allegedly began
“mission to destroy” Ali. Ali complained that some
of Roer's friends, including respondent Darin Op--
perman, also made it their mission to damage Ali's
reputahon and to get her kicked out of the WCC,

In August 2001, Roer obtained a restraining order’
against Ali, and on June 27, 2002, Ali was arrested at
the WCC for vnolatmg the restraining order, after she
allegedly called Roer a “slut” during a WCC event. As
a result of her arrest, the Wayzata city prosecutor

~ -brought criminal charges against Ali; in September

2002, the WCC held its own hearing regarding Ali's
alleged misconduct. After hearing testimony from
both Audie and Ali, as well as the Roers, the WCC .
board determined that it would wait until the conclu-
sion of the criminal trial before it made any recom-

‘mendations reoardmg the situation. In October 2002,

Ali was tried in criminal court for allegedly violating
the harassment restraining order but was acquitted by

a jury.

Despite her acquittal, Ali and the entire Dunham
family were expelled from the WCC on November 22,

.2002. In its expulsion letter to the Dunhams, the WCC

board statéd that it found “substantiation for the alle-

' gation” that Ali called Roer a “slut,” which constituted

“willful misconduct under the Bylaws.” The letter
further stated that “[bjased on this conclusion, and
given prior misconduct as noted in previous corres-
pondence and discussions between officials of the
Club and you, the Board has determined that your
expulsion from the Club is warranted.” .

On ‘May 4, 2004, the Dunhams brought suit
against Opperman, alleging tortious interference with
contract, defamation, conversion of personal property,
negligent mﬂlctlon of emotional distress, and civil
conspiracy. ™ The Dunhams filed an amended com-

‘plaint on June 28, 2004, omitting the conversion

claim. The Dunhams now appeal from four separate

©2011 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig, US Gov. Works.

'EXHIBIT 1

[Z0010/0046
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orders of the district court.

FN1. Ali also brought an action against Roer,
alleging intentional infliction of emotional
distress, malicious prosecution, abuse of
process, defamation, intentional interference
with contract, and conversion, -and an action
against the WCC, alleging that she was ex-
pelled from the WCC because she challenged
the WCC's allegedly discriminatory policies
and practices relating to dress code and
gender-specific golf tournaments. The Dun-
hams' motion to consolidate the three law-
suits was denied on July 14, 2004. On May
28, 2004, the district court granted Roer's
motion for summary judgment, dismissing
all claims brought by Ali against Roer. The
dismissal of Ali's claims against Roer was
affirmed by this court in Dunham v. Roer,
708 N.W.2d 552, 573 (Minn.App.2006), re-
view denied (Minn. Mar. 28, 2006). The
Dunhams' lawsuit against the WCC pro-
ceeded to a bifurcated trial; the statutory
discrimination claims were tried by the dis-

trict court and the common-law claims were

_ tried by a jury. On May 20, 2005, the jury
issued its verdict denying the Dunhams any
recovery, and on July 6, 2005, the district
court followed suit. This court affirmed in
Dunham v. Wayzata Country Club, No.
A05-1784 (Minn.App. Sept.19, 2006), re-
view denied (Minn. Dec. 12, 2006).

‘February 2, 2005 Order
*2 The Dunhams' claim for defamation was based
on the aliegations contained in paragraph 5.3 of the
amended complaint and three letters that Opperman
wrote to the WCC board. Paragraph 5.3 states:

It is also 'all‘eged that Opperman was responsible
for working together with one or more other indi-
viduals to defame Dunham and lower her reputation

in the community. Dunhams have, in this early stage -

of this litigation, quoted as many statements as she
can, but Dunbams need additional discovery in or-
der to determine which statements were made (and
their exact quotes) due to the plan acted upon by
Opperman and other/s. Dunhams allege that this is
somewhat analogous to a fraud claim where the
information is in the hands of the defendant/s and
therefore cannot necessarily be fully articulated in

Faegre & Benson

Page 2

this Complaint. Dunhams are aware of defamation
cases that cite a need to articulate the precise words
of the defamatory statement in the Complaint, but
allege that these facts (and pamcular]y the allega-
tion of a separate civil conspiracy claim in addition
to defamation) warrant an opportunity to amend the
~ Complaint to add specific statements. Dunhams will
amend this Complaint.as soon as possible in this
litigation. Dunhams reserve the right to discovery,
investigate and amend regarding allegations that
Oppermand [sic] and/or other defendant/s, in con-
cert, worked-to portray Dunham in a false hvht
(such as Dunham being a criminal defendant), in
such a widespread manner that Dunham will liter-
. ally be unable to repair her reputation or re-establish
_ her reputation in the community. In addition, Dun-
ham reserve [sic] the right to amend to include al-
legations concerning false statements made by
Opperman and/or other defendant/s in tortiously
interfering with Dunham's membership at the Club.

The first letter writter by Opperman, dated June
12, 2001, was delivered to WCC President Thomas
Howard in order to “report an incident of conduct
unbecoming a member.” In the letter, Opperman
stated that while she was eating dinner at the WCC
with Roer and another individual on June 7, 2001, Ali
approached their table, gestured with her middle fin-

" gertoward Roer, and stated to Opperman and the other

member, “You better hope she's not sleeping with one
of your husbands.” Opperman stated that she was
writing the letter “in the hope that the Board will ad-
dress th[e] issue personally with Ms. Dunham and ask
her to refrain from making inappropriate comuments to
club members and their children.”

The second letter written by Opperman, dated
June 10, 2002, was delivered to WCC President Karl
Reuter and accused Ali of “intimidating and harass-_
ing” her by making a point of “stopping her golf game
... on the course in order to glare and point.” Opper-
man aiso accused Ali of monitoring the number of
times t.hat respondent was golfing at the WCC per
month o2 ‘

FN2. As a “wait member,” Opperman could
only play two rounds of 18 holes or four
rounds of 9 holes per month plus one round
of golf as a guest of a full golf member.

Finally, on October 11,2002, Opperman mailed a

'©2011 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.
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letter to Reuter and W.CC Vice President Mark-Eck-
erline, stating that Ali's accusations at her criminal
trial that Opperman harassed and intimidated her
children were “an out and out lie,” and that she would

“deal” with the accusatlons “in the appropriate forum

at the appropriate time.”

*3 Opperman moved for dismissal of the allega-
tions contained in paragraph 5.3 pursuant to Minn. R.
Civ. P. 12, alleging that they were vague and not
pleaded with sufficient specificity. On February 2,
2005, the district court issued an order denying in part
and granting in part Opperman's motion to dismiss,
concluding that paragraph 5.3 “fall[ed] to satisfy the
required level of specificity,” as “[p]laintiff's at-
tempted reservation of claims based on future inves-
tigation, discovery, or a change in the law [wa]s not
sufficient to overcome the clear deficiencies in the

allegations contained in Paragraph 5.3.”

Opperman also moved for summary judgment
with regard to the three letters she sent to the WCC,
which allegedly defamed Ali. With regard to the first
letter, Opperman argued that because the letter formed
the basis for the district court's issuance of the re-
straining order in 2001, the statements were “sub-
stantially true,” and thus not actionable. The district
court agreed, concluding that the statements contained
in the letter did not “constitute actionable defamation”
because “the substance of the statements [was] found
to be true.” Thus, the district court dismissed the
Dunhams' claim of defamation resulting from the June
12, 2001 letter. -

With regard to the second letter, Opperman ar-
gued that summary judgment was appropriate because
“the alleged defamatory statements were statements of
opinion.” But the district court disagreed, stating that
“[t]he fact that one of the statements contained in the
letter is prefaced with ‘I understand’ is not dispositive
on the question of subjective opinion.” Instead, the
district court concluded that “[wlhen taken as a.whole,
the letter, and the specific statements contained
therein, could be read as assertions of objective facts
that convey a defamatory meaning.” Thus, the district
court denied Opperman's motion for summary judg-
ment with regard to the June 10, 2002 letter.

Finally, with regard to the third letter, Opperman
argued that the “statements contained in th[e] letter

(were] true as a matter of law” because the district

~ Faegre & Benson
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court “determined [Ali] Dunham was not entitled to
receive a restraining order against Karen Roer” based
on those statements. Conversely, the Dunhams asked
the district court “to interpret the jury verdict in [Ali]
Dunham's criminal trial as a finding of ‘not guilty of
calling Karen Roer a “slut” at the WCC’ or ‘that the
precise factual scenario at issue in Opperman's Octo-
ber 11,2002 letter had already been tested in front of a
jury.” “ But the.district court found that both of these
assertions “testfed] the bounds of reason” and con-
cluded that the determination regarding whetkier the
allegations made by Ali at her trial were a lie

- “present[ed][a] genuine issue[ ] for determination by

the fact-finder.” Thus, the district court also denied
Opperman's motion for summary judgment as to the
October 11, 2002 letter.

Opperman also moved for dismissal of the Dun-
hams' tortious-interference claim, arguing that where
the same allegations support both .a defamation and
tortious-interference claim, the tortious-interference
claim should be dismissed. Relying on #ild v. Rarig,
302 Minn, 419,234 N.W.2d 775 (1975), the district
court dismissed the Dunhams' tortious-interference
claim, concluding that “the defamation claim en-
compasses the tortious interference claim (which may
be an element of damages in the defamation action)”
and that defamation provides a broader scope of re-
covery that might include, among other things, loss of
business relationships.

*4 Further, the district court denied Opperman's
rule 12 motion to dismiss the Dunhams' negli-
gent-infliction-of-emotional-distress ~ claim  but
granted Opperman's motion to dismiss the civ-
il-conspiracy claim under rule 12 because “the vague
and conclusory allegations [were] not sufficient to
state a claim upon which relief may be granted.” Fi-
nally, the district court denied the Dunhams' motion to
strike and their rule 56 motion for continuance.

June 27, 2005 Order ' '
Opperman's second motion for summary judg-
ment was scheduled to be heard by the district court on
April 28, 2005. On Aprl 22, 2005, the Dunhams
moved to compel discovery, requesting that their
motion be heard at the same time as Opperman's
summary-judgment motion. But the Dunhams did not
serve an accompanying notice of motion with a hear-
ing date. Although the hearing was subsequently con-
tinued to May 3, 2005, due to the Dunhams' counsel

©2011 Thoméon Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.'

#0012/0046



05/20/2011 12:42 FAX 6127661600

Not Reported in N.W.2d, 2007 WL 1191599 (Minn.App.)

(Cite as: 2007 WL 1191599 (Minn.App.))

- being ill, the district court denied the Dunhams' mo-
© tion to compel discovery as untimely because the
motion “was not served and filed at least 14 days prior
to April 28, 2005” and “was not brought in com-
pliance with the Court's Scheduling Order which
provided that all non-dispositive motions be served
and filed so as to be heard no later than April 29,
2005.” .

July 21, 2005 Order

After the district court denied Opperman's second
motion for summary judgment, Opperman noticed the
depositions of Ali for June 13, 2005, and Audie for
June 14, 2005. On the morning of June 13, approx-
imately one hour before Ali's deposition was to begin,
the Dunhams' counsel called Opperman's counsel to
cancel Ali's deposition, stating that she had misread
the notice and mistakenly believed that Ali's deposi-
tion was to occur on Saturday, June 18, 2005. On June
20, 2005, the district court held a telephone conference
to discuss the rescheduling of Ali's deposition. Be-
cause the case was to be tried sometime during the
district court's three-week trial block beginning July
18, 2005, the district court told the parties that the
depositions should be completed as soon as possible.
During the telephone conference, there was some
discussion about scheduling the depositions on a
Tuesday, and the district court was apprised of the fact
that Ali had golf commitments on Tuesdays. But the
district court instructed that if Tuesdays worked for
counsel, then the depositions would have to take place

at that time and that Ali's golf conflicts would not be °

considered for scheduling purposes.

Opperman subsequently served notice of taking

the videotaped deposition of Ali for 9:00 am. on

Tuesday, July 5, 2005, giving the Dunhams two
weeks' notice of the date and time. Audie's deposition
was noticed for 5:00 p.m. on July 5, 2005, after the
completion of Ali's deposition. On Friday, July 1,
2005, the Dunhams' counsel contacted Opperman's

counsel and requested that Audie's rather than Ali's

-deposition take place at 9:00 a.m. on the 5th because

of a business commitment that Audie had during the -

time he was scheduled to be deposed. Opperman's
counsel denied the Dunhams' request. The Dunhams'
counsel subsequently called the' Dunhams on the
moming of July 1, 2005, and left a message on their
voicemail, notifying them that the request to switch
Ali's deposition time with Audie’s had been denied
and that Ali should appear at her originally scheduled
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time 0f 9:00 a.m. Audie claims that he did not receive
the voicemail message until Sunday, July 3, 2005, and
that he could not reach Ali at that time because she
was “up north.”

*5 At approximately 8:30 a.m. on July 5, 2005,
Audie contacted the district court's law clerk and in-
formed the clerk that Ali was “up north,” could not be
contacted, and consequently would not be able to
attend her deposition scheduled for 9:00 a.m. Audie
also informed the law clerk that he would appear at
9:00 am. for his deposition and that Ali could be
deposed after he was finished. The district court sub-
sequently found that, contrary to Audie's assertion in_
his affidavit, the law clerk did not okay the scheduling
change. Instead, the law clerk informed Audie that the
issue should be worked out by. the attorneys involved
and that he should not call the dlstnct court regarding

such matters.

When Ali did not appear for her deposition at 9:00
a.m. on July 5, 2005, counsel for both sides contacted
the district court for a telephone conference. Opper-
man's counsel informed the district court that they had
previously denied the Dunhams' request to switch Ali
and Audie's deposition times and that Alj had failed to -
appear for her deposition at 9:00 a.m. The Dunhams'
attorney told the district court that Ali was up north,
could not be contacted on her cell phone, and that she
would report immediately for the deposition when she
returned between 11:00 a.m. and noon. The district

“ court instructed the parties to wait until Ali arrived and

to commence with her deposition before deposmg
Audie.

- Ali eventually arrived for her deposition at 12:40
p.m. on July 5, 2005, and counsel began her deposi-
tion. During the deposition,”Ali lied under oath about
where she had been at 9:00 a.m. that morning, stating
“[e]xactly at nine I was probably outside of Melrose,
Minnesota.” The district court found that Ali contin-
ued to “lie] ] repeatedly” when questioned about her.
whereabouts and activities the moming of July 5,
when she should have been attending her deposition.
Specifically, when asked whether she had been on a
golf course playing golf at 9:00 a.m., Ali responded,
“That is not true,” and she “proceeded to fabricate a
story about how she had been given an exception by
the Minnesota Women's Golf Association to submit a
practice round score from the previous Friday as her
tournament score.” After being confronted by Op-
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perman's counsel with information indicating that she
- had posted a score on the morning of July 5 at Olym-

pic Hills Golf Course, Ali untrutbfully. stated that she
. stopped by the golf course on her way to the deposi-
tion to turn in her Friday score, but maintained that she
did not play a round of golf that morning. Later, Ali
lied again when she stated that although she did play
some golf on the morning of July 5, she did not play all
18 holes, because she received a message from Audie
that her failure to appear for her deposition at 9:00
a.m. had become an issue.

Opperman subsequently brought a motion for
attorney fees and sanctions, arguing that the Dunhams'
. case should be dismissed as a sanction for. Ali lying
under oath at her deposition and for failing to make
herself available for her deposition on a “golf day” in
direct contravention of the district court's “order.” The
district court found that Ali's decision “to play a round
of golf on Tuesday, July 5, 2005 rather than appear as
noticed for her deposition was intentional, and in

flagrant disregard of the Court's directive during the '

Juné 20th telephone conference.” The district court
further found that “ft]he decision of Ali and Audie
-Dunham to conceal the truth about Ms. Dunhami's
non-appearance for her deposition as noticed was
intentional and outrageous,” as “[bJoth Dunhams
admit[ted] in their subsequent affidavits that they
agreed Ms. Dunham should not ‘volunteer’ any in-

formation about her having played golf that moming.” -

Finally, the district court stated that “[t}he Dunhams'
subsequent explanations for these occurrences [welre
totally lacking in credibility.” Thus, the district court
concluded that because the Dunhams “engaged in
conduct that constitute[d] a fraud upon the Court and
offend[ed] the basic principles underlying our judicial
system ... [sjuch extreme and outrageous behavior
must be met with the most ‘severe of sanc-

‘tions—dismissal,” The district ‘court dismissed the .

Dunhams' case with prejudice and ordered the Duan-
hams to pay Opperman §$1,785 as reasonable costs and
attorney fees.

February 2, 2006 Order

*6 In September 2005, the Dunhams moved, inter
alia, to disqualify the district court judge and to vacate
all orders signed by the district court after July 6,
2005, including the district court's dismissal of the
Dunhams' case. Specifically, the Dunhams argued that
the district court judge, who also presided over their
lawsuit against the WCC, had evidenced a bias against
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them in their case against the WCC with regard to
posttrial motions made in that case. The Dunhams also
alleged that the district court judge had engaged in ex
parte communications with the Fourth Judicial District
Chief Judge, a staff person from the jury room at the -
Hennepin County Government Center, and an un-
identified juror, all following the WCC trial but prior
to hearing the Dunhams' posttnal motions.

On December 9, 2005, the Dunhams' attorney
asked the disrict court to disclose information that she
believed may be relevant to the question of disquali-
fication so that the Dunhams could “articulate a pre-
cise motion to disqualify.” But in a December 12, .
2005 letter sent to counsel, the district court stated that
because the Dunhams had never scheduled a hearing
on their motion to disqualify, there were no motions,
pending before ‘the district court, .and thus no order
would be forthcoming. The Dunhams' attorney sent
the district court another letter, indicating her disap-
pointment that the district court failed to respond to
the Dunhams' request for information related to the
question of disqualification. Relying on the Minnesota
Supreme Court's decision in Stare v. Dorsey, 701
N.W.2d 238 (Minn.2005), the letter also asked the
district court to make the requested disclosures and
issue a ruling as to whether the district court judge
would voluntarily recuse himself from the case. On
January 17, 2006, the Dunhams served an amended
motion to disqualify that put the matter on for hearing
on Januvary 31, 2006. The district court subsequently
denied the Dunhams' motion to disqualify 28

EN3. On July 7, 2005, at a hearing on the

. Dunhams' posttrial motions in the WCC case,
the district court explained that its commu-
nications were specifically in response to
concems relayed by jurors who had been
contacted by the Dunhams' counsel after the
WCC trial was completed.

DECISION
L
The Dunhams argue that the district court erred
when it dismissed their claim of tortious interference
with contract, contending that the district court's de-
termination that a party cannot claim both defamation
and intentional. interference with contract is unsup-
ported by caselaw. On appeal of a case dismissed for
failure to state a claim on which relief can be granted,

-the only question before an appellate court is whether
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the complaint sets forth a legally.sufﬁcient claim for
relief. Barton v. Moore, 558 N.W.2d 746. 749
(Minn.1997). Thus, we review do novo the legal suf-

- ficiency of the claims presented. dlliance for Metro. .

Stability v. Metro. Council, 671 N.W.2d 905. 912

(Minn.App.2003). '

The district court, relying on Wild v._Rarig, 302
Minn. 419, 234 N.W.2d 775 (1975), dismissed the

Dunhams' tortious-interference-with-contract claim, -

concluding that the Dunhams' defamation claim en-
compassed the tortious-interference claim. In Wild,
the plaintiff brought a claim against the defendant
alleging, inter alia, defamation and Interference with
business relationships. 302 Minn. at 423-24, 234

N.W.2d at 781. One issue before the Minnesota Su--

preme Court on appeal was whether a two-year or a
six-year statute of limitations should apply to plain-
tiff's ' wrong-
ful-interference-with-business-relationships ~ claim
when the claim was based on defendant's alleged
defamation of plaintiff. Jd_at 442, 234 N.W.2d at 790.
Defendants argued that the wrongful-interference
claim should be barred by the two-year statute of
. limitations because the claim was essentially the same
as plaintiff's defamation claim “since the means alle-
gedly used to interfere was defamation.” Jd. at 443

234 N.W.2d at 790-91. The supreme court concluded
that while the six-year statute of limitations should
generally apply to a claim for wrongful interference
with business relationships, the claim for wrongful
interference by means of defamation was “essentially
a part of [plaintiffs] cause of action for defamation,”
and thus the two-year statute of limitations should be
applied. /d_at 447. 234 N.W.2d at 793. The supreme
court stated: ‘ :

*7 The defamation which is the means used to in-

terfere with his business relationships action is the
same defamation that [plaintiff] seeks to recover
damages for under his defamation claim. It seems to
us that, regardless of what the suit is labeled, the
thing done to cause any damage to [plaintiff]
eventually stems from and grew out of the defama-
tion. Business interests may be impaired by false
statements about the plaintiff which, because they
~adversely affect his reputation in the community,
induce third persons not to enter into business rela-
tionships with him. We feel this phase of the. matter
has crystallized into the law of defamation and is
governed by the special rules which have developed
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in‘that field. Defamation provides a much broader
scope of recovery than wrongful interference with
business relationships. Under present defamation
law, a victim of defamation may recover, ‘under
proper circumstances, general damages; special
damages, including among others, loss of business
relationships; and possibly punitive damages.

. 1d.at447,234 N.W.2d at 793. Thus, the supreme

court applied the two-year statute of limitations to
plaintiff's interference-with-business-relations claim.
Id '

The Dunhams argue that Wild is distinguishable
from the current case because the court in Wild “did

‘ot prohibit [two] theories of liability. based on the

same facts,” but instead simply found a similarity
between the defamation and tortious-interference
claims “for purposes of analyzing statute of limita-
tions issues.” We disagree. The Dunhams' amended
comnplaint alleges in paragraphs 4.2 and 4.3 that Op-
perman “knew about and intentionally interfered with
(the Dunhams'] contractual relationship without Jjusti-

* fication” when “Opperman wrote a June 12, 2001

letter to the WCC “in hope that the [WCC] w [ould]
address this issue’ and have Dunham ‘forfeit her
membership.” “ Because Opperman's letters to the
club, including the letter sent on June 12, 2001, also
form the basis for the Dunhams' defamation claim
against Opperman, we conclude that the district court
did not err when it determined that the tor-.
tious-interference claim is encompassed by the defa-
mation claim and therefore should be dismissed.

IL
The Dunhams also contend that the district court

-abused its discretion ‘when it denied their motion to

compel, arguing that (1) Opperman was able to obtain
discovery orders without including a notice of motion, |

_ motion, or memorandum and without having a hearing

" and (2) Opperman was granted an order allowing

additional discovery after the April 28, 2005 deadline
for non-dispositive motions. In essence, the Dunhams'
argument is a claim that the district court has been
unfair throughout discovery by favoring Opperman

over the Dunhams.

“[T]he [district court) judge has wide discretion to
issue discovery orders and, absent clear abuse of that
discretion, normally its order with respect thereto will

not be disturbed.” Shetka v. Kueppers, Kueppers, Von
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Feldr & Salmen, 454 N.W.2d 916, 921 (Minn. 1990);
see also Minn. Twins P'ship v. Hatch, 592 N.W.2d
847, 850 (Minn.1999) (citing Shetka ). Appellate

courts give great deference to district court judges to
determine the procedural calendar of a case. Rice v.

Perl, 320 N.W.2d 407, 412 (Minn.1982). Therefore,
denial of a motion to continue discovery is reviewed
for abuse of discretion. dlliance for Metro. Stability,
671 N.W.2d at 919. The district court must address
two questions before granting a motion to continue or
compel: (1) whether the plaintiff has been diligent in
obtaining or seeking discovery; and (2) whether the
plaintiff is seeking discovery in the good-faith belief
that material facts will be uncovered or merely en-
gaging in a fishing expedition. Rice, 320 N.W.2d at
412; Hasan v. McDonald’s Corp., 377 N.W.2d 472,

475 (Minn.App.1985)

EN4. Opperman contends that the supreme
court's decision in Rice applies only to con-
tinuances and not motions to compel. But this
. court has applied the two-prong test articu-
lated in Rice to cases where a party sought a
motion to compel, such as in the inpublished
decision Kimmel v. Twp. of Ravenna, No.
A05-362, 2005 WI_ 3372716, at *7

(Minn.App. Dec.13, 2005), review denied
(Minn. Feb. 22, 2006). -

*8 Minn. R. Gen. Pract. 115.04(a) provides:

No motion shall be heard until the moving party
pays any required motion filing fee, serves a copy of
the following documents on the other party or par-
ties, and files the ongmal with the court adminis-
trator at least 14 days prior to the hearing:

(1) Notice of motion and motion;

@) Propbsed order;

(3) Any affidavits and exhibits to be submitted in

conjunction with the motion; and

(4) Any memorandum of law the party intends to
submit.

Minn. R. Gen. Pract. 115.06 states that “[i]f the
moving papers are not properly served and filed, the
hearing may be cancelled by the court. If responsive
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papers are not properly served and filed in a
non-dispositive motion, the court may deem the mo-
tion unopposed and may grant the relief requested
without a hearing.”

-Here, the district court denied the Dunhams' mo-
tion because it was not brought in compliance with the
scheduling order. The scheduling order required that
all nondispositive motions be heard by April 29, 2005.
And, therefore, in order to comply with the scheduling
order and rule 115.04, motion papers had to be filed no
later than April 15, 2005. But the Dunhams' motion to
compel and their request for their motion to be heard
at the same time as Opperman's summary-judgment
motion on April 28, 2005, was not filed until April 22,
2005. Because-the Dunhams were not diligent in
seeking discovery, we conclude that the district court
did not abuse its discretion when it denied the Dun-
hams' motion on the ground that it was untimely.

. '

The Dunhams argue that the district court abused

its discretion when it dismissed their casé¢ with preju-
dice, contending that sanctions are only warranted in
“extreme situations” where a “pattern” of abuse has
taken place. “[Clourts are vested with considerable
inherent judicial authority necessary to their vital
function—the disposition of individual cases to de-
liver remedies for wrongs and justice freely and
without purchase; completely "and without denial;
promptly and without delay, conformable to the laws.”

Patton v. Newmar Corp.. 538 NW.2d 116, 118
(Minn, 1995) (quotation omitted). Thus, “[t}he task of

-determining what, if any, sanction is to be imposed is

implicated by the broad authority provided the [dis-
trict] court.” /d,_at 119. A party “challenging the [dis- -
trict] court's choice of a sanction has the difficult

“burden of convincing an appellate court that the [dis-

trict] court abused its discretion—a burden which is .
met only when it is clear that no reasonablé person

would agree [with] the [district] court's assessment of

what sanctions.are appropriate.” /d. (third alteration in

original) (quotation omitted) (holding that district

court did not abuse its discretion when it dismissed

plaintiff's claim on summary Jjudgment after excluding

evidence as a sanction for its spoliation).

In addition to a district court's broad inherent
authority to determine whether and what sanctions
should be imposed under certain circumstances, a
district court also has express authority to sanction'a
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* party for discovery abuses under the Minnesota Rules’

of Civil Procedure. Minn. R. Civ. P. 37.04 provides:

*9 If a party ... fails (1) to appear before the officer

who is to take the. deposition, after being served

with a proper notice ... the court in which the action
is pending on motion may make such orders in re-
gard to the failure as are just, including any action
authorized in Rule 37.02(b)(1), (2), and (3).

Minn. R. Civ. P. 37.02(b)(3) states that a district
court may issue an “order ... dismissing the action or

proceeding or any part thereof” if a party disobeys an .

order to provide or permit discovery. In addition, “[a]

party who willfully and without justification or excuse :
fails to comply with discovery orders ... and continues -
to refuse to cooperate with the court forfeits the right

to a trial on the merits.” State by Humphrey v. Ri—~Mel,
Inc, 417 N.W.2d 102. 10809 (Minn.App.1987) (ci-
tation omitted), review denied (Minn. Feb. 17, 1988).
In determining whether a district court has abused its
discretion in imposing discovery sanctions, appellate
courts have relied on the following factors: (1)

whether the court set a.specific date for discovery, (2) .

whether the court warned the party about the possible
sanction, (3) whether the failure to cooperate with

discovery was an isolated event or part of a pattern, -

“and (4) whether the failure to comply ‘was willful or
without justification. Breza v. Schmitz, 311 Minn.

236, 237, 248 N.W.2d 921, 922 (1976) (willful or

without justification); Beal v. Reinertson, 298 Minn.

542 544,215 N.W.2d 57. 58 (1974) (specific date for
discovery); Sudheimer v. Sudheimer, 372 N.W.2d
"792, 795 (Minn.App.1985) (warning about possible
sanctions); Williams v. Grand Lodge of Freemasonry
"AF & AM,_ 355 N.W.2d 477, 480 (Minn.App.1984)

(isolated event or part of a pattern), review denied
(Minn. Dec. 20.1984). This court reviews a district
court's discovery sanctions for an abuse of discretion.

Chicago Greatwestern Office Condo. Ass'n v. Brooks,
427 N.W.2d 728, 730 (Minn. App.1988).

The district court dismissed the Dunhams'.case as -

a sanction for (1) Ali choosing to play golf (in direct
contravention of the district coutt's instructions) in-
stead of appearing for her: deposition at 9:00 a.m. on
July 5, 2005, and (2) Ali and Audie repeatedly lying
under oath about Ali's whereabouts on the morning of
her deposition in an attempt to cover up the fact that
she was playing golf. But the Dunhams argue that the
district court's dismissal of their case as a sanction for
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their behavior was “too drastic,” as neither Ali nor
Audie actually violated a court order. The Dunhams
further assert that while they wish they would have
made different decisions, Ali's trip up north and their
decision not to be forthcoming about it were not direct
lies and was “hardly the type of outrageous conduct
that warrants dismissal of the entire case.” The Dun-
hams further justify their conduct by claiming that
Opperman and her husband, Vance Opperman, were
also not forthcoming in their depositions and that
members of the WCC lied under oath at trial in the
Dunhams' case against the WCC without any conse-
quences.

*10 Two Minnesota cases are particularly rele- .
vant to our analysis of this issue. In Williams, plain- -
tiffs Williams and Jones brought suit against defen-
dants alleging, inter alia, that defendants had con-
spired with a judge in order to infringe upon their
rights. 355 N.W.2d at 479. Defendants' counse} no-
ticed the depositions of both plaintiffs, and when the
plaintiffs claimed that they did not receive notice,
defendants renoticed the depositions for a few weeks
later. Id Plaintiffs again failed to appear for their
depositions and, instead, moved for a protective order

- to delay or prevent the taking of depositions. Id The

district court denied plaintiffs' motion and determined
that plaintiffs should participate in discovery. /d De-
fendants again noticed the depositions of both plain-
tiffs, informing them that failure to appear could result
in the dismissal of their case. /d. Nonetheless, only
Jones appeared for his deposition, as Williams again
refused to attend the deposition and sought another
protective order. Jd As a result, the district court
dismissed Williams's complaint. /& On appeal, this

court affirmed the district court's dismissal of Wil--

liams's case, reasoning that because Williams had a .

 history of refusing to appear at depositions, bad been

dismissed from an earlier lawsuit for a similar reason,
and had been warned of the consequences of missing
the deposmon, the district court did not err by dis- -
missing Williams's case as a sanction for his faﬂure to
cooperate in discovery. /d. at 480.

Similarly, in Bre.za, plaintiff brought an action
after suffering personal injuries in a motor-vehicle
accident. 311 Minn. at 236, 248 N.W.2d at 922. After
holding a pretrial conference on various motions, the
district court issued an order compelling plaintiff to
answer defendants' interrogatories and to submit to

oral deposition. /d. Plaintiff's action was subsequently

,.3.

© 2011 Thomson Reuters..No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.

[410617/0046



05/20/2011 12:44 FAX 6127661600

Not Reported in N.W.2d, 2007 WL 1191599 (Minn.App.)

(Cite as: 2007 WL 1191599 (Minn.App.))

dismissed with prejudice by the district court upon
defendants' motion. when plaintiff failed to comply
with the district court's order. /d. The Minnesota Su-

preme Court affirmed the district court's dismissal of’

plaintiff's action, stating that plaintiff “forfeited her
right to a trial of her case on the merits” when she
“willfully and without justification or excuse refused
to comply with discovery orders and deliberately and
in bad faith, with the intent to delay the trial, continued
to refuse to cooperate with the court and defendants’
counsel to bring the case to a prompt and expeditious
conclusion.” Id_at 237, 248 N.W.2d at 922 (quota-
tion marks removed); see also O'Neil v. Corrick, 307
Minn, 497, 497-98. 239 N.W.2d 230, 230 (1976)
(concluding that the district court “properly dismissed
plaintiff's action and granted defendants summary
judgment” where “[p]laintiff failed to comply with an
order that he either provide full and complete answers.
to written interrogatories within 30 days or have his
actiori dismissed™).

*11 But these cases are distinguishable from the
facts before us. Here, although the district court in-
structed the parties to take the Dunhams' depositions
as soon as possible and also warned Ali that her golf
conflicts should not be considered for scheduling
purposes, the district court did not actually order Alito
attend her deposition on a certain date and time. In

addition, neither the district court nor Opperman's .

counsel warned the Dunhams that their failure to at-
tend the depositions at the times noticed would lead to
dismissal of their claim. Further, the record indicates
 that this was the first time that either of the Dunhams
had failed to cooperate with discovery or had lied or
attempted to mislead opposing counsel or the court.

We view this as a close case. We understand and
even sympathize with the district court's frustration
and agree that the Dunhams' conduct, including their
. deliberate attempt to mislead both Opperman's coun-

sel and the district court, is very disturbing. We are
further troubled by the Dunhams' failure to admit even
now that their lies and misdirection were intentional.
But while we reaffirm our deference to the district
court's authority to craft sanctions, we must also ac-
cord weight to precedent, holding that dismissal is
only an appropriate sanction when exceptional cir-
_cumstances are present. And, in our review of the
caselaw, we have not found a case in which dismissal
of al] claims—the ultimate sanction—was ordered and
upheld on appeal without 2 prior warning or violation
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.of a specific court-order.

For example, in Beal, plaintiff refused at a pretrial
conference to turn over his income tax returns for

" review. 298 Minn, at 543, 215 N.W.2d at 58. The

district court ordered that plaintiff produce the tax
returns, but plaintiff did not respond to requests for the
tax returns and refused to produce the retumns at his
deposition. Id. The district court subsequently dis-
missed plaintiff's claim with prejudice. /. On appeal,
the Minnesota Supreme Court determined that the
district court's decision to dismiss plaintiff's action
was “too drastic,” and thus reversed and remanded the
case, ordering plaintiff to comply with the pretrial
discovery order within 10 days from the date of its

- decision and stating that if plaintiff failed to comply,

the district court should dismiss the case with preju-
dice. Id_at 544,215 N.W.2d 57, 215 N.W.2d at 59. In

_ doing so, the court noted its statement in Firoved v.
.Gen. Motors Corp., 277 Minn. 278, 283-84, 152

N.W.2d 364, 368 (1976), that

[a]n order of dismissal on procedural grounds runs
counter to the primary objective of the law to dis-
pose of cases on the merits. Since a dismissal with
prejudice operates as an adjudication on the merits,
it is the most punitive sanction which can be im-
posed for noncompliance with the rules or order of .
the court or .for failure to prosecute. It should
therefore be granted only under exceptional cir-
cumstances. The primary factor to be considered in
determining whether to grant a dismissal with or
without prejudice is the prejudicial effect of the
order upon the parties to the action, although under
extraordinary circumstances a dismissal with pre-
judice might be justified even though no prejudice
to defendant is shown. Obviously, the prejudice to
plaintiff of such a dismissal is certain and usually
permanent. As fo defendant, the ordinary expense
and inconvenietice of preparation and readiness for
trial, which can be adequately compensated by the
allowance of costs, attorney's fees, or the imposition
of other reasonable conditions, are not prejudice of:
the character which would justify either a refusal to .
permit plaintiff to dismiss without prejudice or 2
dismissal with prejudice. The defense has the bur-
den of showing particular prejudice of such a cha- -
racter that some substantial right or advantage will
be lost or endangered if plaintiff is permitted to .
dismiss and reinstitute the action. Such prejudice
should not be presumed nor inferred from the mere
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fact of delay.

*12 Beal 298 Minn._at 543—44 215 N.W.2d at
58.

Here, Ali's failure to attend her deposition at the
scheduled time and the Dunhams' subsequent conduct,
although very troubling, did not go to the merits of the
case.-Accordingly, we conclude that the circumstances
were not so “exceptional” ‘as to warrant dismissal of
the Dunhams' case, and thus that the district court

abused its discretion when it dismissed the Dunhams' .
claim with prejudice. See Kmart Corp. v. County of

Becker. 639 N.W.2d 856, 859 n. 2 (Minn.2002) (not-

ing that dismissal with prejudice is the most extreme
. sanction available and should be invoked “only under

exceptional circumstances”). On remand, we note that

the district court has discretion to order further sanc-
tions, short of dismissal, if it deems it appropriate.

Iv. 4

Finally, the Dunhams argue that the district court

violated the Canons of Judicial Ethics by talking to the

Fourth Judicial District courthouse staff and with a

juror in the WCC case and thus should have disquali-
fied itself and vacated its dismissal of the Dunhams'
claims. The district court's refusal to set aside a dis-
missal can only be reversed on appeal if the refusal is
an abuse of the district court's judicial discretion.
Butkovich v._Q'Leary, 303 Minn. 535, 536, 225

N.W.2d 847, 849 (Minn.1975). But “[w]hether 2 judge -

has violated the Code of Judicial Conduct is a question
of law, which we review de novo.” State v. Dorsey,
701 N.W.2d 238, 246 (Minn.2005). Judges must be
sensitive to the appearance of partiality and should
take measures necessary “to assure that litigants have
no cause to think their case is not being fairly
- judged.” MecClelland v. McClelland, 359 N.W.2d 7,
11 (Minn.1984). Disqualifying bias or prejudice “must
stem from an extrajudicial source and result in an

opinion on the merits on some basis other than what -

the judge learned from her participation in the case.”
In_re Welfare of D.L. 479 N.W.2d 408, 415

(MinnApp.1991), affd 486 N.W.2d 375 -

(Minn.1992): “[A]dverse rulings are not a basis for

imputing bias to a judge.” 4g Servs. of Am._Inc. v.

Schroeder, 693
( Minn.ApQ.20Q5 ).

Minn. R._Civ. P. 60.02 states that “[o]n motion
and upon such terms as are just, the court may relieve

Faegre & Benson

N.W.2d 227, 236-37 .

Page 10

a party ... from a final judgment ..., order, or pro-
ceeding and may order a new trial or grant such other
relief as may be just for the following reasons: ... (f)
[a]ny other reason justifying relief from the operation
of the judgment.” Minn. R. Civ. P. 63.03 provides that
“[a] -judge or judicial officer who has presided at a
motion or other proceeding or who is assigned by the
Chief Justice of the Minnesota Supreme Court may
not be removed except upon an affirmative showing of

. prejudice on the part of the judge or Jjudicial officer.”

See also Matson v. Matson, 638 N.W.2d 462. 464

. (Minn.App.2002) (affirming district court's denial of

motion for recusal and noting that under rule 63.03 a.
party seeking to remove a judge is required to make an
affirmative showing of the judge's prejudice or bias
after that judge has already presided over a proceeding
in the action).

*13 The Dunhams state that they have a consti-

tutional right to .an impartial judge, but they fail to

articulate how or why the district court judge violated
their constitutional right. The Dunhams cite Powell v
Anderson, 660 N.W.2d 107 (Minn.2003), and Dorsey
for the proposition that a violation of the Canons of
Judicial Ethics may require a judge to disqualify
himself or herself and to vacate earlier decisions. :

Canon 3D(1) of the Minnesota Code of Judicial
Conduct provides that “[a] judge shall disqualify
himself or herselfin a proceeding in which the judge’s
impartiality might reasonably be questioned, includ-
ing but not limited to instances where ... the judge has
a personal bias or prejudice concerning a party or a
party's lawyer.” Further, the Advisory Committee's
Commentary to Canon 3D(1) explains that

[ulnder this rule, a judge is disqualified whenever
the judge's impartiality might reasonably be ques-
tioned, regardiess whether any of the specific rules
in Section 3D(1) apply.

A judge should disclose on the record information
that the judge believes the parties or their lawyers
might consider relevant to the question of disquali-
fication, even if the judge believes there is no real
basis for disqualification.

Thus, “it is possible that a judge with judicial- -
ly-acquired bias or prejudice concerning a party could
be required to recuse herself if the bias or prejudice is
such that the judge's impartiality -is subject to rea-

© 2011 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.

[#0019/0046
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Not Reported in N.W.2d, 2007 WL 1191599 (Minn. App.)
(Cite as: 2007 WL 1191599 (Minn.App.))

sonable question.” Dorsey, 701 N.W.2d at 248.
“When reviewing a judge's decision not to disqualify
herself, we must make an objective examination of
whether the judge's impartiality could reasonably be
questioned.” /d. But “judges are presumed to have the
ability to set aside ‘nonpersonal’ knowledge and make
decisions based solely on the merits of cases before
them.” Id. at 249. Moreover, “the requirement that a
judge must disqualify herself if she ‘has personal
knowledge of disputed evidentiary facts' is a narrow
prohibition,” "as “personal knowledge ... does not’
include the vast realm of general knowledge that a
judge acquires in her day-to-day life as a judge and
citizen.” Id. at 247 (footnote omitted). Disqualifica-
tion of a judge may be based upon the Code of Judicial
Conduct, and a judge's failure to disqualify himself or
herself may require the judge's decision to be vacated.
Powell, 660 N.W.2d at 115-16, 121.

In this case, the Dunhams fail to articulate any
specific reason why the district court judge should be
disqualified. While the. Dunhams state that the district
court judge communicated with a staff person at the
Hennepin County Government Center and an uniden-
tified juror, as well as the Chief Judge of the Fourth
.Judicial District, there is no evidence in the record to
support the Dunhams' argument that the district court

" had a judicially acquired bias or prejudice concerning
either party or that the district court's impartiality
should be questioned. Therefore, we conclude that the
district court did not err when it denied the Dunhams'
motion to disqualify. ‘

*14 Affirmed in part, reversed in part, and
remanded.

Minn.App.,2007.
Dunham v. Opperman
Not Reported in N.W.2d, 2007 WL 1191599

(Minn.App.)

END OF DOCUMENT

© 2011 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.
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| mTRoDUCnQN | |
CBS Broadcasting Inc., owner of WCCO-TV, and WCCO reporter Esmé Miu'phy
(together, the “CBS Dcfendénts”), move for partial summary judgment to dismiss all
~ claims asserted against them by Jan Girard, Pete Girard, David B.A Holland, Terry
Yzaguirre, and Ray Neset '(toglcther, the “Contestant Pla.'intiffs”),' and by Bennetﬁ Ross
Taylor, Jr. and J udith Wéllen Taylor (tpgether, the “Lend.e,rA Plaintiffs”).. |
This lawsuit ariseé-froni a July 15, 2008 WCCO news report (the “Broadcast”) that
raised questioné aﬁout a controversial scheme in which a real estate (Iiveveloperl promised :
to “give away” a $1.8 million hoqse to a single contéstant, put only if he raised $5 million
dollars from $20 entry fees. .Thé contest required entrants to guess thé number of
‘variously sized and shaped nails, screws and other fasteners in a qontainer; the closest
number (without goiﬁg over) would “win” the house. See generally First Amended
Complaintv(“Compl.”). |
WCCO reported that the developer had been arrested, that police believed the |
contest was illcgal, that the prize home Wés in foreclosure, .tha.t the charity supposedly
assobia;ted with the contest did not exist, and that an advertised “wéekly prize” had never
been awarded. See DVD of Broadcast (previouslyl filed at Doc. 49-'14). The developer,
Plaintiff Paul Stepnes, assqrts a defamation claim against the CBS Defendants. Discovéx;y
remains oéén as to Stepnes, and the' pfesent motion does not involve his claims.
Discovery has closed as to the seven other plainﬁffé. This motion addresses the

_claims of the five Cohtestant.Plaintiffs,.who claim to have entered “one or both of the’
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- contests that Stepnes slponso'red,” Compl. ?[2, and the two Lender Plaintiffs, a mam'ed
couple who loaned S;epncs $176,000 fwo years before the Broadcast, zd q8. Each set of
plaintiffs alleges that the Broadcast caused the contest to fail and that the CBS
Defendants thefeby -tortiousl); interferéd with their contracts with Stepnés by prevcntihg
him from fulfilling the terms of those c.ontracts. Id. 1y130-33. Plaintiffs’ ciair_ns cannot

‘withstand scrutiny; ‘ |

First, the Contestant Plaintiffs nevef completed any contract With Stepnes.v Four
did not even enter the contest before the Broadcast, and the fifth nev’er submitted an -
actual number for the nails and.other fasteners in the container. 'Thﬁs, the Contestant
Plaintiffs seek to holé the CBS Defendants liable for interfering w1th contracts 'that did |
not exist on the date of thé Broadcast. . A tortious interference with contrac; glaim
premised on such facts laéks any semblance of legitimacy.

Second, because Stepnes’s guessing-game contest constituted an illegal ldttcry
under Minnesota law, any ﬂleged "comract arising from participation iﬁ the cbntcst 18
unenfor‘ceablc and, therefore, cannot support a tortious interference claim.

| Third, the Lender Plaintiffs base their intérference with contract claim on two

promissory notés wAith. Stepnes that were executed m 2006 (more than two ycé.rs prior to

‘the Broadcast), for which Stepnes né;rer made a single montfziy payment as requireci, and
which had come due in full'.l Stepnes had already breached these contracts long before
the Broadcast. The Le‘nde.r Plaintiffs cénnot in good‘faith claim that the Broadcast causéd

. any contractual breach.
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Fourth, not evt:n aiscinti]la' of evidence existsjin the record that the CBS
Defendants intended to procure the alleged breaches of contract, as to either the
Contestant or Legder flaintiffs. The absence of this essential element dooms Aziny
interference with contract claim, |

Fifth, none of the Contestant Plaintiffs can 'establi.sh a number submitted with their
entries. Testimony shows that both Stepnes and th‘e' Contestant Plaintiffs either destroyed
or failed to preserve key evidence relating to contest entries. Thus, the Contestant
Plaintiffs cannot possibly establish that any one of them would have won the contest, -
which allowed for only one winner. Because they received refunds of any ehtx& fees, they
suffered no provable damages. | |

. Sixth, despite Plaintiffs’ unsupportable contention that $5 million in sales “was.
achievable” as a yield from.thc contests, Compl. 19, the contest was an abject failure
before the Broactcast aired. Between the beginning of the contest on May 9, 2008, and
the Broadcast on July 15, 2008, Stephes sold approximately 200 entries, grossing less
than $4,000 while incurring ﬁlore thatn $11,000 in out-of—pockct expenses. Stepnes
needed to net more than $2 million in a few mtmths just to Be able to redeem the prize
home from foreclosute and pay off the Lende;r Plaiptiffs_. ‘Moreover, unless he sold
250,000 entries, he had no obligation to award the prize home at all, much less to one of
the Contestant Plaintiffs.. Given all of this, neither the Contestant Plajntiffs nor the -

Lender Plaintiffs can demonstrate that the Broadcast was the proximate cause of their

alleged damages. |
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Finally, these Plainﬁffs admit that their claims aﬁse solely from the allegedly
defamatory remarks in the Bfoadcast, and iat the Broadcast neither is about them nor
refers to them in aﬁy way. Itis well-settled that a plaintiff may not cﬁcuﬁvent the burden
of proving each of the elemcnté of a defamation claim Ey recasting the claim as
something else. Becaﬁse the Broadcast was not _“bf and concerning” fhe Contestant and |
Lender Plaintiffs, their claims ax;'sing‘ from the alleged daxﬁages caused by the Broadcast
faii as a matter of constitutional and common law.

| For each of these indep’cndént rcasons; and as discﬁssed iﬁ more detail below, the
claims by the Contestant and Lender Plaintiffs against the CBS Defendants never had any

merit, and this Court now.should dismiss them all.

STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS

The Irving House and .the Lender: Plaintiffs

1. Plaintiff Paul Stepnes, a “developé’r of distinctive residential properties,”
purchased a hoﬁse at 2857 Irving Avenue South in Minneapolis in October 2004. Seé
Declaration of Michael D Sullivan (“Sullivan Dccl.”) Ex. 1 (“3/16/2007 Afﬁdavit of |
Paul Stepnes™) §2. His plan was to demolish the existing structure and build a “new ‘old:’
farmhouse” home as his “flagship pro'pérty.” Id. ‘][3 .

2. . This new flagship property (the “Irving House”) was, according to its
general contractor, “the most ambitious project [Stepnes) had done.” Sullivan Dec. Ex. 2
(“3/1 6/é007 ~Affic:1avit- of Robert Gustafson”)"‘i[B. “No costAwas spéred” —the héme

included “the finest available finishes and fixtures” and “even has an elevator.” Id.
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41.  Contestant Plaintiffs began discussing filing this lawsuit with Stepnes as
early as two days after the Broadcast, inJ uly 2008. See P. Girard Dep. at 36:12-39:3;

J. Girard Dep. at 19:10- 25:5. They filed their Complaint on September 30, 2008.

The Plaintiffs’ Claims
| 42.  The Lender Plaintiffs do not challenge any conduct by the CBS Défendants
except the réporting and airing Qf the Broadcast._ See Sullivan Decl. Ex. 33 (“J. Taylor
Dep.”) at '23:19-25:'64; B'. Taylor Dep. ';t 40:'1 8-41:22, 159:15-160:23, 195:2_1-196:2.
- 43, 'IhcAContestén't Plaintiffs likewise do not challenge any conduct by the CBS
- Defendants except the repérting and airing of the Eroadcast. See generally Compl.; see,
e.g., Holland Dep. at 111:20-112:24; Neset Dep.“ at117:13-118:1.
ARGUMENT |
The Court should grant summary judgment in favor of the CBS Defendants
because no genuine dispute of material fact exists and apblicablé law supports the CBS
Defendants’ request for rélief. S;ze Fed. R. Civ. P. 56; Andersén v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., '
477 0.8. 242, 250 (1986). The Contestant and Lender Plaintiffs cannot avoid that resulf
unless they set forth sbgcific admissible evidentiary facts showing. that there is a geﬁuiﬂe
issue for trial. Forrest v. Kraft Foods, Inc., 285 F.3d 688, 691 '('Sth Cir. 2002); Anderson,

477U.S. at 252; Celotex.Corp. v. Catrest, 477 U.S. 317, 322-23 (1986). They cannot do

so here.

15
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I THE CONTESTANT AND LENDER PLAINTIFFS C:ANNOT
ESTABLISH MULTIPLE ELEMENTS OF THEIR CLAIMS.

To establish a claiin for tortious interference with conﬁact under Minneéota law,

' each Contestant and Lender Pléjntiff “‘must prove that: (1) a contract existed;' (2) the
alleged wrongdéer ... had iqlowledge of the contract; (3) the alleged wrongdoer
iﬂtentionally interfered. with the contract; (4) the alleged wrongdoer’s actions were not
justified; and (5) damages were sustained as a result.””” Minnesota Deli Provisions, Inc. v.
Boar'’s Head Provisions Co., - F.3& ---, 2010 WL 2104283, at *6 (8th Cir. May 27,
2010) (quoting Guinness Import Co. v.-Mark"VII Distribs., Inc., 153 F.3d 607, 613 (8th
Cir. 1598)); see also Maﬁion v. Nagin, 394 F;3d 1062, 1067 (8th Cir. 2005). |

The uridispute;d record in this case demonstrates that the Contestant Plaintiffs
éannot establish‘ even the first element (existence of a valid c.ontr'act), and thét none of |
these plaintiffs can e_stgblish elements (2), (3), or (5).'3 Plaintiffs’ claims must fail 1f they
lack even a single elemeﬁt. lSte'rling Capital Advisors, Inc. v. Herzog, 575 N.'W.2d 121,

127 (Minn. App. 1998).

* Plaintiffs also cannot meet the fourth element (that defendants’ actions were not
justified). See, e.g., Glass Serv. Co. v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co., 530 N.W.2d 867,
871 (Minn. App. 1995) (insurance company justified in informing insureds of policy
limitation and in suggesting alternative windshield vendors); Dulgarian v. Stone, 652
N.E.2d 603, 609 (Mass. 1995) (“There is no indication that the report was broadcast for
any reason other than the reporting on an issue of public concern. There is no indication
that the conversation with Allstate personnel was improper or carried on for any purpose

other than journalism.”). Full discussion of that element, however, would overlap the
merits of the Stepnes defamation claims, as to whi;h discovery remains open.

16
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Placid Co., 479 N.Y.S.2d 862, 868 (N.Y. App. Div. 1984) (holding that there could be 1o

claim for tortious interference with a contract that was breached prior to defendant’s
action).

I. THE CONTESTANT AND LENDER PLAINTIFFS CANNOT
DISGUISE DEFICIENT DEFAMATION CLAIMS BY
ASSERTING CLAIMS FOR TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE.

The Contestant and Lender Plaintiffs’ claims are premised entirely on the CBS
Defendants reporting and airing of the Broadcast. See generally Compl. {9130-34.
Indeed, they have made clear that no other conduct by the CBS Defendants 1s atissue. . .

See SOF qj42-43. As Plaintiff Ben Taylor put it:

And what happencd is that [the contest] was going along just fine,®
and what happened is that WCCO and Esme Murphy, they had this
broadcast. And, baswally, what that did is what we call in the
mortgage business, it kmd of tainted the file.

'So, in other words, there was a lot of bad press that was done on that
and it'was not reported properly and it caused — it caused the contest
to fail, which in fact made it so that our — we were not able to get our
liens paid out of that property. And it was done in such a way that
[it] was not truthful and when the pubhc saw that it stopped the
contest in its tracks ' :

B. Taylor Dep. at 41:8-22.

By the reasoning of the Contestant and Lender Plaintiffs, therefore, allegedly
defamatory statements would create a broad right of action, enforceable not only by a

subject of the statement but also by anyone else affected by. such a statement.' In other

§ Mr. Taylor later test1f1ed that he had no personal knowledge that the contest was
doing well prior to the Broadcast, but that Stepnes had led him to believe that it was. B.

Taylor Dep. at 163: 12—164 12.

29
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words if the Court were to accept Plaintiffs’ theory, possible plaintiffs in this case could
include the dozens of other contestants, anyone else to whom Stepnes owed money, the
friends and'family of Stepnes who might have benefited from a successful contest, the
businesses where Stepnee may have purchased goods and services with newfound wealth
from a successful contest, the beneﬁciaries of any philanthropic giving Stepﬁes might

" have .done aftera successful contest, and so on.

If this reasoning had any validity, every news report statement, or other utterance
would l1ke a stone thrown into a pond create spreading npples of hablhty to everyone
potentially affected However, both as a matter of Flrst Amendment protection and under
the common law, only the subject of a statement can assert a c1a1m for defamatron Eg.,

| Rosenblatt v. Baer 383 U.S. 75, 81 (1966) (“There must be ewdence showing that the
attack was read as spec1ﬁcally dlrected at the plaintiff. ”) New York Times Co. v. Sullivan,
376 U.S. 254, 291 (1964) (finding that defamation hablhty was con_strtunonally infirm”
where challeoged statements were not “of and lconcerm'ng” thc-plaintiff); Michaelis v.

: CBS,;Inc., 119 F:3d 697, 701 (8th Cir. 1997) (“In order for a statement to be defamatory,
it must assert a defamatory fact against the plaintiff.”); I"horson' v. Albert Lea Publ’g Co.,
190 Minn. 200, 205,251 N.W. 177, 179 (1.933) (defamatory statements about one person
are not actionable by another person, even if that person is a relative of the first); Covey v.
Detroit Lakes Printing Co.; 490 N.W.2d 138, 143 (Minn. App. 1992) (“Essential to any
defamation action is a determinetion that the alleged def_amator}" st_aterrrent concerns or is

understood to concern the plaintiff.”). This constitutional and common law “of and

30
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- concerning” réquireﬁlent"fstands as.a significant ljmitation on the universe of those who -
may seek a legal femedy for communications théy think to be false and defamatory and to

* have injured them.” Kirch v. Liberty Media Corp., 449 F.éd 388, 399-400 (2d Cir. 2006); o
see generally 1 SACK ON DEFAMATION § 2:9.5 (4th ed. 2010) (“[A] statement about a
person is only ‘of and concemjngf that person, not friends, rela‘tives, or associates.”j.

It makes no difference that theT Contestant and Lender Plaintiffs have called their
claim interference with ontract rather than defamation. Plaintiffs see@ng damages for
injuriés. flowing from the conteﬁi of a publication or broadcast, no matter how they may

' label their claims; mﬁst .satisfy all of the requirements that govern such cla.ims.. Plaintiffs
“may not avoid the prqtectioh afforded by the -Cogsﬁtuﬁon mérely by the use of
c;caﬁVe pleading.” Beverly Hills Foodland, Irgc. 12 UFCWLo_cal: 655, 39 F.3d 191, 196
(8th Cir. 1994) (ﬁoting th.at. the actual malice standard required for an actionable

. defamation claim “must equélly be met for a £ortious interference claim based on the
same cc'mdﬁcf or-stateﬁents”); see also Hustler Magazine .v. Falwell, ~485 U.S. 46, 56
(ll988) (dismissing claim for iﬁﬂictio,n of emotib,nal distress by subject of advertisement
parddy becausé he could not .prove the elements of 2 causé of action for defamation);
Johnson v. C'BS, Inc., No. CIV -3-95-624, 1996 WL 907735, at. *2 (D. Minn. Sept. 4,
1996) (“This court reads Beverly Hills Foodland to apply a maliée standard to tortious
interference claims where béth défamation and tortious intérfereﬁce, based on the same
facts, are pled.”); Wild v. Rar;z'g, 302 Minn. 419, 447, 234 N.-W.2d 775, 793 (1975) .

(“special rules” governing defamation actions apply to wrongful interference claim

31
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where, “regardless qf what the suit is labeled, the thing done to cause any daﬁagé to [the
plaintiff] cventixally. stems from and grew out of the‘ dgférhation.”).7 Minnesota courts
routinely dismiss tortious interferencc‘claims arising i;rom alleged defamatory.
statements.®

Here, the Contestant and Lender Plﬁnﬁffs clalim to be aggn'eveq by the alleged
defamation of another person. Because they have no viable cause of gction for |
defamation theméelves, they cannot maintain a claim arising from the 'same conduct when

styled as a claim for tortious interference with contract.

" Counsel for the Lender and Contestant Plaintiffs has tried and failed to
distinguish Wild in other litigation. See Dunham v. Opperman, No..A06-750, 2007 WL
1191599, at **6-7 (Minn. App. April 24, 2007) (unpublished) (affirming dismissal of A
interference-with-contract claims based on same statements as defamation claim).

8 Eg., European Roasterie, Inc. v. Dale, Civ. No. 10-53 (DWF/JJG), 2010 WL
1782239, at *5 (D. Minn. May 4, 2010) (“Tortious interference claims that are duplicative
of a claim for defamation are properly dismissed.”); ACLU v. Tarek Ibn Ziyad Acad., Civ.
No. 09-138 (DWF/JJG), 2009 WL 4823378, at *5 (D. Minn. Dec. 9, 2009) (same);
Guzhagin v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 566 F. Supp. 2d 962, 969 (D. Minn. 2008)
(dismissing tortious interference claim because “a Minnesota plaintiff is not permitted to
avoid defenses to a defamation claim by challenging the defamatory statements under
another doctrine”); Pinto v. Internationale Set, Inc., 650 F. Supp. 306, 309 (D. Mirin.
1986) (dismissing tortious interference claim because “in Minnesota, a plaintiff cannot
elude the absolute privilege by relabeling a claim that sounds in defamation”); Pham v. .
Le, Nos. A06-1127, A06-1189, 2007 WL 2363853, at *7-8 (Minn. App. Aug. 21, 2007)
(unpublished) (dlsnussmg tortious interference claim arising from same statements as
unsuccessful defamation claim); McGaa v. Gkumack, 441 N.W.2d 823, 827 (Minn. App.
1989) (“In Minnesota, one ‘cannot elude the absolute privilege by relabeling a claim that

sounds in defamatlon”’) (citations omitted).
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CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, summary judgment should be entered dismissing
with prejudice all claims by plaintiffs Jan Girard, Pete Girard, David B. Holland, Ray

Neset, Bennett Ross Taylor, Jr., Judith Wallen Taylor, and Terry Yzaguirre against

- CBS Broadcasting Inc. and Esmé Murphy.

' Dated: June 17, 2010

Rcspect:fully submitted,

John P. Borger, MN #9878
Leita Walker, MN #387095
Faegre & Benson LLP
2200 Wells Fargo Center

90 South Seventh Street
Minneapolis, MN 55402-3901

- 612-766-7000

/s/ Michael D Sullivan
Michael D. Sullivan, DC #339101
(admitted pro hac vice)

| Jeanette Melendez Bead, DC #480539

(admitted pro hac vice)
Chad R. Bowman, DC #484150
(admitted pro hac vice)
Levine Sullivan Koch & Schulz, L.L. P
1050 17th Street NW, Suite 800
Washington, DC 20036
(202) 508-1100

~ ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS

CBS BROADCASTING INC. AND
ESME MURPHY o
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'UNITED STATED DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA

| | Case No. 08-cv-5296 (ADM/JJK)
Paul C. Stepnes, Pete Girard, Jan Girard, ' ‘ : :
David B. Holland, Terry Yzaguirre, Ray Neset,

Judith Taylor and Ben Taylor, =~

Plaiitifs, ~ . ~ MEMORANDUM OF

" PLAINTIFFS ~ '
V. IN OPPOSITION TO DEFENSE
. : ' ; MOTIONS TO DISMISS RE
Peter Ritschel, et ai, ' “NON-STEPNES” PLAINTIFFS

Defendants.

INTRODUCTION AND PLAN OF RESPONSE

Both sets of Defendants have moved to disniiss the fortious interference
claims of the “non-Stepﬁes" Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs have already expressed their
concern to the Court that the concepts alleged By Défe,ndanté in these motions are
intertwined with the claims of Paul Stepnes. And the Court has indicated by lefter ‘

| that thesé Plaintiffs'.élaims are legally distinct from those of Stepnes.

This memo;‘andﬁm responds to both motioﬁs to dismiss. 'If addressés 'onj} the
claims of the. "nqn-Stepnés” Pléintiffs.' It provides'so.me background about Paul
Stepnes and the Cohtests, which appears necessary to di'scusé these claims. Butit
does not a‘ttefnpt to discuss all facets of those, and it should not be presumed that

this is the entirety of the evidence.

EXHIBIT 3




05/20/2011 12:48 FAX 6127661600 Faegre & Benso.n [410034/0046

CASE 0:08-cv-05296-ADM -JJK Document 270 Filed 07/0"8/10 Page 16 of 25

City-Defendants also allege that Stepnes was arrested for “unlawful
gambling.” That‘is not accurate. The authority to detain filled out by Sgt. Ritéchel, o
cited the statute for concealing one’s identity. See authority ;co detain Aat exhibit f,
and exhibit A within. (Stepnés' S]-.Decl. 131).

WCCO did have an impfoper purpose. It's purpose was to create controversy
and sell cdntroversy. An Interh working at WCCO in tﬁe summer 2008 testified
under oath that it was his unders’taﬁding “if the contest were legal, there would be
no reason to do the étory." (Sfefmes SJ-Decl. exhibit q, exhibit 6 within, pages 8i-

N 82). f‘herefore, the motive of Esme Murphy ana wcco Was to try to maké thé
Contest appear illegal. (Stepnes Sj-Decl. 1[ 33).
: o -ARGﬁMENT -
l.' SUMMARY IUDGMENT STANDARD NOT MET BY DEFENDNTS.
Upon a motion for .summary'judgment, the initial burden Aof proof is allocated

to the movant in the form of demonstrating "that there is an absence of evidence to

support the nonmoving party's case.” Celotex Corp. v. Catrétt, 477‘U.S. 317, 325,106
S.Ct. 2548, 2553-54, 91 L.Ed.2d 265 (1986) ; Nelson v. Kingslex' 208 B.R. 918,920
(8th Cir. BAP 1997). Defendants have not met this burden. |

Once met, the burden then shifts to the nonmoving party “to go beyond the
pleadings and by her own affidavits, or by the 'depositions, answers to
_interrogatories, and admissions on file,' designate 'specific facts showing that
~ there is a genuine issue for trial. " Celotex, at 324, 106 S.Ct. at 2553 (quoting
Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(c), (e)); see Matsushita, at 587, 106 S.Ct. at 1356; Tenbarge v.
Ames Taping Tool Sys., Inc., 128 F.3d 656, 658 (8th Cir.1997); In re Kingsley,
208 B.R. at 920. | | '
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and rﬁnning after the wrongful demise of Contest #1 - when WCCO broadcast its
story, the Defendants have filed separate _motiohs, separate bi‘iefs, acting aé if they
areallin isoIation; Both sets of Defendants pretend that the other does not exist.
This is not the the;)ry of Plaintiffs’ case.

Tortious interference with contract is a tort for which joint and several

liability is appropriate. See, e.g., Bel-Bel Int'] Corp. v. Commgnity Bank, 162~ F.3d
1101 (11¢ Cir. -19§8) ; Enercomp. Iﬁc. v. McCorhill Pub., Inc, 873 F.2d 536 (2d Cir.
| 1989) (judgnienfc of joint and several liability for tortious iﬁterferenée with

'contréct). If Deféndants address this in their reply bf‘ief, Plaintiffs may need to
request additiohal briefing. Defendants were wgll-apprised of this'théory, but chose
to'ignore it when they filed these' motions. They should not gain an advantage from
that type of briefing. |

| Further, Sfepnes has significant addi'tio'nal inforrﬁation about how Ritschel

and Murphy worked together to cause h.i_m harm ~ a topic best discussed in the

Stepnes motions.

II.  PLAINTIFFS CAN MEET ALL ELEMENTS OF Q'LA!M OF !NTERFEBENCE.

Plaintiff can, indeed, meet all elements of a tortuous interference with
contract claim. (See cases cited at CBS-memo p. 16). However, it is clear that |
Defendants have not alleged in this motion, that element (4) cannot be met

(improper motive]..' TJust in case, Plaintiffs cite to Stepnes S]-Decl. 1133 (showing
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Stépnes knew that to sue the City for that conduct, he had'to attempt to
mitigate his damages. And, he triea valianﬁy to make Contest #2 work. But Contest -
#2 was crippled by the intentional interference with Contest #1 - and that
contributed to the harm caused to the Contestant Plaintiffs. |

WCCO also, knew there were contestants. Taken injthe light best for
Plairitiffs, the broadcasf script shows that the goa‘l of that story was to taint future
purchasers, and to cause current customers to balk. Surely a jufy could find thusly.
The self-serving allegation by CBS that it was dﬁly reporting a matter of public |

| . concern is the facts taken in the ligﬁt best for Défendén.ts. That is not the standard
on sumrﬁary judgment |
3. Plaintiffs were damaged.

Ajury could decide that Pléintiffs were damaged due to Défendgnts' conduct, -
and thét Plaintiffs can be compensated. . | |

As discussz‘ad_‘at length gbove, the'c’ontest’s were not already “failures.” They
could not get up and running, bécause each time they wére starting to flourish,

another disaster caused a shut down.

- Itis important to note that Defendants misstate the theory of Plaintiffs. The

Complaint is quite clear. The Defendants cause the demise of the contests, which
caused Paul Stepnes to breach the contracts with the Plaintiffs. In the case of the
Lenders, the contract was to pay the'from the contests (instead of from selling the

house - a modification agreed to by the parties to the contracts). There is no need |
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111 THESE PLAINTIFFS DO NOT HAVE A DEFAMA:]:IO'N CLAIM.

" These Plaintiffs are not pursufng a defamation clairﬁ. Their theory is not that
the only bad coﬁdut’c of CBS was the airing of the broadcast. Ins;tead, fhey allege that
CBS /WCCO pfessuréd Stepnes to bfeach’their contracts with Stepnes. Thatisa o
classic tortious iﬁtérference theory. These Plaintiffs are not alleging they were
defamed. There are many waysAthat defendants can induce a bre_ach. The way iﬁ
which these defendants did it is just.one.. ‘ |

Wild v. Rarig, cited at p. 31-32 of the CBS memo, .did not-discuss this situétiﬁn.
In that case, the'iss.ug was the stétuté of limitations. .Furthef, the issue w;exs whether
the conduct relating to the one, single plain?iﬁ‘ soundéd more properly in defamation
or intentional‘interference. Thése Plaintiffs are not alleging that'they. wéré
(themselves) defamed). They have a separate claim for tortious intgrference with
contract. Stepnes" defamation claim is. legally distinct from the claims discussed in
.tﬁis'motion. '
IV. PLAINTIFFS HAVE NO 1983 CLAIMS.
These Plaintiffs afe not pressing §1983 claims (or Monell claims). Plaintiff
l. counsel would have been happy to clarify that for City-Defendants if ésked (either in
formal discovery or informal conversation). Fufther, at this time, fﬁese Plaintiffs
. dismiss Sgt. Jane Moore frém their tortious interferénce-claim.

CONCLUSION
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For all of these reasons, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the CBS-
defendants’ motion for summary judgment be denied, and that the City-Defendants’
motion for summary judgment (except as to Jane Moore) be denied.

Dated: July 8, 2010-07-08 ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS

* s/jillclark

Jill Clark (196988)

Jill Clark, P.A.

2005 Aquila Av. N. .
Golden Valley, MN 55427
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- IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
' DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA

Paul C. Stepnes, Pete Girard, Jan Girard,
David B. Holland, Terry Yzaguirre, -

Ray Neset, Bennett Ross Taylor, Jr., and Case No. 0:08-cv-5296 ADM/JIK
Judith Wallen Taylor, ' ' o
Plaintiffs,
. REPLY MEMORANDUM OF

V. ' _ ' - LAW IN SUPPORT OF MOTION

_ B , ‘ ' FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BY
Peter Ritschel (individual capacity), - . CBS DEFENDANTS AGAINST
Jane Moore (individual capacity), - CONTESTANT PLAINTIFFS AND
City of Minneapolis, CBS Broadcasting, LENDER PLAINTIFFS
Inc., foreign corporation, and Esme Murphy :
(individual),
[ - Defendants.

John P. Borger, MN #9878
Leita Walker, MN #387095
Faegre & Benson LLP

2200 Wells Fargo Center

90 South Seventh Street
Mirineapolis, MN 55402-3901

Michael D. Sullivan, DC #339101 (pro hac vice)
Jeanette Melendez Bead, DC #480539 (pro hac vice)
Chad R. Bowman, DC #484150 (pro hac vice)
Levine Sullivan Koch & Schulz, LL.P. -

1050-17th Street NW, Suite 800

Washington, DC 20036

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS
CBS BROADCASTING INC. AND
ESME MURPHY

EXHIBIT 4
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June 25, 2007) (“Eigh& Circuit law is clear that a naked seif_—serving affidavit, by itself,
| in the absence of any evidence in the record, is insufficient to create a genuine issue of
material fact in dispute and ;ccbrdingly is msufficienf to defeat a motion for summary
judgment.”). Here, there is no writing fnemoﬁa.lizing the purported modifications,’ nor
any other doéumcntary evidence suggesting that Stepnes and the Lender Piaintiffs oral_ly

. modified the terms of the notes to provide that Stepnes woﬁld pay the Lender Plé.intiffs
from the proceeds of the contest. Stepnes’s déclaraﬁon, stating only that such a

modification occufred, is insufficient to defeat the CBS Defendants’ motion.

F.  THE CONTESTANT AND LENDER PLAINTIFFS MISSTATE THE
'RECORD AND IGNORE THE LAW IN THEIR EFFORT TO AVOID
ESTABLISHED AUTHORITY BARRING THEIR CLAIMS, -

16.  After asserting in their complaint and testifying in their depositioﬁs that the
sole conduct theif challenge by the CBS Defendants is the Broadcast - and as such
: clearly seek to circumvent the limits of defamahon law see generally CBS Mem, at 15,

29- 32, Plamtlffs now allege that “[t]heir theory is not that the only bad conduct: of CBS

? Given that a modification of the notes plainly would be subject to Minnesota’s
Statute of Frauds, the absence of such a writing is especially curious. See Minn. Stat.
§ 513.05 (requiring contracts for interests in real estate to be in writing); Minn. Stat.
§ 513.33 (requiring agreements by creditors “to take certain actions, such as . .. forbearing -
from exercising remedies under prior credit agreements” to be in writing); see also
Massey v. Mortgage Elec. Registration Sys., No. 09-1144 (RHK/JSM), 2010 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 51899, at *7-8 (D. Minn. May 25, 2010) (“Minn. Stat. § 513.33 expressly applies

- to agreements to forebear ‘from exercising remedies under prior credit agreements,’ such -

as the right to foreclose on a defaulted mortgage.”) (citation omitted); Odens Family
Props., LLC v. Twin Cities Stores, Inc., 393 F. Supp. 2d 824, 829 (D. Minn. 2005)
(stating that “[a]ny modification of a contract fa]lmg under the statute of frauds must be

in wntmg ™).

11
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was the alnng of the broadcast Instead they allege that CBS/WCCO pressured Stepnes |
to breach thelr contracts with Stepnes.” Opp. at 24. This statement comes wnhout
citation or reference to any 1jecord evidence — because there is none. On this ground, as
well, claims by the Contestant and Lender Plaintiffs should be dismissed.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, and those set out more fully in the CBS Defendants’
opening memorandum, summary judgment should be entered dismissing with prejudice

all claims by the Contestant and Lender Plaintiffs against the CBS Defendants.

Dated: July 15,2010 Respectfully submitted,

John P. Borger, MN #9878
Leita Walker, MN #387095
Faegre & Benson LLP

2200 Wells Fargo Center

90 South Seventh Street
Minneapolis, MN 55402-3901
(612) 766-7000

/s/ Michael D. Sullivan

Michael D. Sullivan, DC #339101
(admitted pro hac vice) -

Jeanette Melendez Bead, DC #480539
(admitted pro hac vice)

Chad R. Bowman, DC #484150
(admitted pro hac vice)

Levine Sullivan Koch & Schulz, L.L.P.

.1050 17th Street NW, Suite 800 -

Washington, DC 20036

(202) 508-1100

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS

CBS BROADCASTING INC.AND
ESME MURPHY

12
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA -

Paul C. Stepnes, Pete Girard, Jan Girard, _ Civil No. 0:08-cv-5296 ADM/JJK
David B. Holland, Terry Yzaguirre, Ray ' .
Neset, Bennett Ross Taylor, Jr., and Judith

Wallen Taylor, _ '
' STIPULATION FOR DISMISSAL OF
Plaintiffs, THE ACTIONS OF NON-STEPNES
: PLAINTIFFS WITH RESPECT TO
Vvs. ' CBS DEFENDANTS

Peter Ritschel (individual capacity), Jane
Moore (individual capacity), City of
Minneapolis, CBS Broadcasting, Inc.,
foreign corporation, and Esme Murphy
(individual),

Defendants.

| ITIS HEREBY STIPULATED‘ AND AGREED, by and among certain parties
acting through their respective undersigned attorneys, as foilows: |
1. Pursuant to Rule 41(a)(1 )(A)(ii) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure,
plaintiffs Pete Girard, Jan Girard, Daﬁd B. Holland, Terry Yzaguirre, and Ray Neset |
' (colléctivély “the Contest;ant Plaintiffs”), and plaintiffs Bennett Réss Taylor, Jr. and -
Judith Wallen Téyl.or (collectively “;che Lender Plgintiffs”) diémiss their actions against
defendants CBS Broadcasting Inc. and Esme Murphy (collectivc;:ly “the CBS'

Defendanfs”). :

2. This dismissal is with prejudice.

" EXHIBIT 5

S — e — ¢ — 1 4
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3. This dismissal is without costs or fees to any party as to the actions affected
by the dismissal (those of the Contestant Plamtlffs the Lender Plamtlffs and the CBS
Defendants), which means that CBS Defendants will not seek any fees from any attorney
for the Lender Plaintiffs or the Contestant Plaintiffs, and CBS Defendants_will withdraw |
their Rule 11 motion within 2 days of their representative signing this stipulation.

4 Defendants Peter Ritschei (individual capacity), J. é.ne Moore (iﬁdividual
capacity), and the Ci_ty of Minneapolis (collectively “the City Défendants”), and the CBS |
Defendants consent to the foregoing dismiséal with prejudice of those actions against the
CBS Defendants. | |

| 5. Plaintiff Paul C. Stepnes continues to pursue hisAaction against the CBS
Defendants. This 'Sfipulation of Dismissal does not have any coll;ateral estoppel effect on

the action maintained by Plaintiff Stepnes.
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Dated: July 28,2010

Dated: July 28, 2010

Faegre & Benson

JILL CLARK, P.A.

sfjiliclark

By: Jill Clark, Esq. (196988)
2005 Aquila Av. N.

Golden Valley, MN 55427
(Tel.) 763-417-9102

Attorneys for Plaintiffs Pete Girard,
Jan Girard, David B. Holland, Terry
Yzaguirre, Ray Neset, Bennett Ross
Taylor, Jr., and Judith Wallen Taylor

SUSAN L. SEGAL
Minneapolis City Attorney

s/jamesamoore
By: James A. Moore (016883X)
Assistant City Attorneys

- 350 South Fifth Street
. Room 210, City Hall

Minneapolis, MN 55415
(612) 673-2063

Attorneys for Defendants City of

[@0044/0046

Minneapolis, Peter Ritschel, and Jane
. Moore '
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Dated: July 28, 2010

1b.us.5468196.06

- FAEGRE & BENSON LLP

s/johnpborger

John P. Borger, MN #9878
Leita Walker, MN #387095
2200 Wells Fargo Center-

90 South Seventh Street
Minneapolis, MN 55402-3901
612-766-7000

Michael D. Sullivan, DC#339101 .
(admitted pro hac vice)

Jeanette Melendez Bead, DC #480539
(admitted pro hac vice)

Chad R. Bowman, DC #484150
(admitted pro hac vice)

Levine Sullivan Koch & Schulz, LLP

- 1050 17th Street NW, Suite 800
- Washington, DC 20036

(202) 508-1100

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS,
CBS BROADCASTING INC. AND'
ESME MURPHY
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STATE OF MINNESOTA L DISTRICT COURT

“HENNEPIN COUNTY. - - - FOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
JeryL.Moore, -~ - | . FileNo. 27-CV-09-17778
’ : : . : The Honorable Denise D. Reilly

. Plaintiff, . ' '

. AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE
' ' BY FACSIMILE AND U.S. MAIL

John Hoff a/k/a] ohnny Northside, -

Defendant

Shelley Beety of the Clty of Shakopee County of Scott, in the State of anesota
being duly sworn, says that on the 20th day of May, 2011, she served the following
documents: :

1. Reply Memorandum of Amicus Curzae anesota Pro Chapter of the Somety of
" Professi onal Journalists; o

' 2. Affidavit of John P. Borger in Support of Reply Memorandum of Amzcus Curiae
Minnesota Pro Chapter of the Society of Profess1ona1 Journalists

on Jill Clark the attorney for the Plaintiff and Paul Godfread the attorney for the Defendant in |
. this action by transmitting by facsimile directed to said attorneys at the following facsimile

numbers placmg a copy thereof in an envelope and arranging for the deposit of same, postage

prepaid, in the United States Mails at aneapohs Minnesota, directed to said attorneys at

the following addresses: -

Paul Godfread . KlClak

‘Godfread Law Firm, P.C. - . 2005 Aquila Avenue North
100 South Fifth Street, Suite 1900 : Golden Valley, MN 55427
Mtnneapolis, MN 55402

?K&bu/&jf 52,&717/,{

Subscribed and sworn-to before me -
this day of May 2011.

5 %

Notary bhc

fb.u5.6835479.01

~~GINGER PLAUCK'
N:atary Public




